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REPORT OF IIIDEPENDENT AT]DITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries
14ff Equitable Tower, 8751 Paseo de Roxas
Salcedo Village, Makati City

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Century Peak Metals
Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial
position as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,2074, and notes, comprising a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Respons ib ility for the C ons olidate d Financ ial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such
internal conhol as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, "whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Re spons ib il ity

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal contuol. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by diaiid$einent, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

R.G. Mansbat & Co., a Philippine partneEhip and a member lirm ol the KPMG
network o, independ€nt firms afriliatod with KPMG lnternationsl C@perstive
('KPMG Intemational'), a Swiss entity. KPMG lnternational provides no client
seruices. No rember lirm h8s Eny aulhoilty to obligate or bind KPMG
lnt€rnational or sny other momber rirm vis-a-vis third pani€s, nor does KPMG
lnternation8l have Eny such authority to obligate or bind €ny member lirm. All
rights reserved.

R.G. Manabat & Go.

The KPMG Center, 9/F

6787 Ayala Avenue
Makati City '1226, Metro Manila, Philippines

Branches: Subic Cebu . Bacolod . lloilo

Telephone +63 (2) 885 7000
Fax +63 (2) 894 1985
lnternet www.kpmg.com.ph
E-Mail ph-inquiry@kpmg.com

PBC-BOA Begistration No. 0003, valid until Dec€mber 31. 2016
SEC Accreditation No. 0004-FR4, Group A. vslid until Nov€mber 1 0, 201 7
lC Accreditation No. F-2014y'014R, wlid until August 26, 201 7
BSP Accredited. Category A, valid until Dec€mber 17, 20'17
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries as

at December 31,2015 arrd20l4, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Decembqr 3l,20LS in accordance wittt
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

R.G. MANABAT & CO.

DINDO MARCO M. DIOSO
Parher
CPA License No. 0095177
SEC Accreditation No. 1387-,4., Group A, valid until February 5,2017
Tax Identifi cplio.n Nd -9f 2-3 65 -765
BIR ApcreilitationNo ot40 I 987-3 0-20 I 3

lsqiia. pec$n trln-2, ZOq';dlid until December l, 20 I 6
PTRNo.53207+6NID '- - -

Icsued lanrsrg+)O I 6 atxvlakati City
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METAL$ T{OtOIHGS CORP.

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Century Peak Metal Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries (the

"Group") is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation ofthe consolidated financial
statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, including the
additional component attached therein, in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards. This responsibility includes designing and implementing intemalcontrols relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of separate financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud of error, selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and

submits the same to the stockholders.

R.G. Manabat & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has audited the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine Standards on
Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of
presentation upon completion of such audit.

Signature:
aF ---- d-r,

WILFREDO D. KENG
President / Chairman of the Board / Chief Executive Officer

Signed this 12ft day of May 2016

856-4844
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CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash
Trade receivables
Inventories

2015

4 P10,346,230
J 63,776,444
6 170,221,834

20t4

P99,529,835
256,787,152

49,922,332
20,299,939
4t.907.574

Due from related pali 20rvrelvs P4rlrv- / 
av

Other current assets I 7 17,730,810

Total Current Assets 262,075,318 468,435,932

Noncurrent Assets
Investment properties
Properly and equipment - net
Explored mineral resources - net
Deferred exploration costs
Deferred tax assets - net
Other noncurrent assets - net

8
9

10
11

T8
l2

21,395,769
1,008,465,563
1,804,380,864

31,618,852
3,234,131

61,029,694

21,395,769
1,163,175,744
1,863,527,473

6,lg5,g1g
63.928.t29

Total Noncurrent Assets 2,930,114,862 3,118,213,033

P3,192,190,180 P3,586,649,965

LIABILITIES AI\D EQIIITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Due to related parties
lncome tax payable

P121,642,289 P278,321,859
214,846,884 392,113,755

46,931

13
20

Total Current Liabilities 336,536,104

Noncurrent Liability
Provision for site rehabilitation 14 11,315,919

670,435,673

10,283,147

Total Liabilities 347,852,023 680,718,760

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the
Parent

Capital stock
Additional paid-in capital

19 2,820,330,450
1,931,550

2,820,330,450
1,931,550

92.298.368Retained earnings 29,816,583

. Total Equity Attributable to Equity Ilolders
of the Parent 2185210781583 2,914,560,369

Noncontrolling Interest 19 (7,740,426) (8,630,263\

Total Equity 2,844,338,157 2,905,930,105

See Notes to the Cowolidated Financial Statements,

P3,192,190,190 P3,586,649,965



CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREI{ENSIYE INCOME

Years Ended December 31

Note 2015 2014 2013

REVENUES

COST AND EXPENSES
Cost of sales

Operating expenses
Depletion of explored mineral

resources

15 P230,543,893

l6 (181,345,539)
17 Q5,641,733)

ta (59,146,609)

P1,008,271,790

(526,163,734)
(47,384,370)

(98,561,080)
Loss on inventory write-down 6 (15,066.240\

P69,117,950

(57,356,761)
(49,118,150)

(14,834,9_22)

TNCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
oTHER TNCOME (CTTARGES) (50,656,228) 336,162,606 (52,1 9 1,883)

oTHER INCOME (CHARGES)
Interest expense
Foreign exchange gains
Loss on disposal ofproperty and

equipment
Interest income
Impairment losses on property and

equipment
Other income - net tzz.i' ors,i:: "n'o',\'01',1:rz'

9, 14
21

(2,128,387)
1,992,774

(747,162)
45,936

(1,758,801)
1,358,419

24,083

(854,342)
3,319,908

18,919

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
INCOME TAX (50,870,750) 336,404,440 (241,q80,138)

INCOME TAXEXPENSE
(BENErrT)

Current
Deferred
Final

t8
7,759,410
2,961,788 (2,005,4_20)

298,163
(1,916,700)

4,26t

10,721,198 (2,005,420) (1,614,27 6)

NET INCOME (LOSS)/TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Loss) (P61,591,948) P338,409,860 (P240,365,862)

TOTAL COMPREIIENSTVE
TNCOME (LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the parent

company (p62,481,785) P333,747,476 (P147,587,768)
Noncontrollins interest 19 889,837 4,662,384 (92,778,094)

(P61,591,948) P338,409,860 (P240,365,862)

Income (Loss) Per Share
Basic/diluted

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

22 (P0.0222) P0.il83 (P0.0s23)
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CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION
AIID SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOIVS

Years Ended December 3l
Note 2015 2014 2013

256,905,219 44,672,334

1J58,801 954,342
Q4,083) (18,919)

(1,359,4_lg) (3,3 l g,g0g)

7, 23

9 - 197,019,755

_ on_tra4e receiv?bles _ _ (3,266,916)
Operating

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTTVITIES

Income (loss) before income tax
Adjusfinents for:

D epreciation, amortization and
depletion

Loss on inventory write-down
Interest expense
Interest income
U w ealized foreign exchange

gains
Loss on disposal of equipment
Gain on disposal of assets held

for sale
Impairment losses on properly

and equipment
Reversal of impairment losses

working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in:

Trade receivables
Inventories
Due from related parties
Other current assets
Long-term receivable

Increase (decrease) in accounts
payable and other current

(p50,870,750) p336,404,440 (p241,980,138)

9, r0
6

9, 14
4

119,243,056
15,066,240
2,129,397

(45,936)

(540,892)
747,162

(722,3L7)

84,004,950

192,817,411
(78,651,089)
20r2gg,g3g

(11,455,459)

liabilities
Ner casn generated trom

(used in) operations
Interest received
Interest paid

117,362,737 533,492,96t (16,901,593)
45,936 24,093

(1,095,615) (298,163)
Income taxes paid - (szo,zagj eJl)+Jao)
Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities 116,313,059 532,399,492 (19,078,509)

593,595,959 (6,039,450)

(256,787,752) 27,046,614
(1,495,665) (46,776,254)
(9,200,310) (7,927,581)

(19,092,032) (1,544,07t)
- (12,577,754)

l8,9l g
(1,485)

CASIIF'LOWS FROM
IIrVESTING ACTTVITIES

Acquisiti-on. of property and
equipment

Deferred exploration costs
Decrease (increase) in other

noncurrent assets

9
11

(7,525,45A)
(3I,618,852)

(491,286,3_96) (81,270,171)

1,265,519 5,970.415
Net cash used in investing activities (37,878,784) (517,256,911) (102,3 19,165)



Years Ended December 31

2015 2014 2013

CASII FLOWS FROM A
F'INAI\ICING ACTTVITY

Increase (decrease) in due to
stockholders (P168,352,067) . P78,903,065 P99.064.886

r
E,

t
E

F

:

EF'FECT OF EXCHANGE
RATE qIIANGES IN CASH 734,188 1,358,419 3.319.908

NET INCREASE (DECREASE)
IN CASII (89,183,600 95,403,165 (19,012,880)

cAsrrAT BEGINNING OF YEAR 99,529,835 4,126,670 23,139,550

CASH AT END OF YEAR 4 P10,346,230 P99,529,835 P4,126,670

See Notes to the Consolidated Finorial Sateme*s.



CENTURY PEAKMETALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAIICIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporatelnformation

Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation (CPMHC oi the "Parent Company"), was
incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) on December 30,2003. On February 15, 2008, the SEC approved the change in
the Parent Company's corporate name to Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation.

On April 14,2008, the SEC approved the amendment of the Parent Company's Articles
of Incorporation changing its primary purpose to include promoting, operating,
managing, holding, acquiring or investing in corporations or gntities that are engaged in
mining activities or mining-related activities. The Parent Company further expanded its
primary purpose by including investing in real estate development and energy. The
amended Articles of Incorporation was approved by the SEC on March i 8, 2010.

The Parent Company listed its common shares of stock with the Philippine Stock
Exchange (PSE) on October 6,2009.

The Parent Company operates as the holding company of the following subsidiaries:

Percentage of Ownership (u)

Direct lndirect

Century Peak Corporation (CPC)
Century Peak Mineral Development Corporation

(CPIrm6; r"r

Century Peak Cement Manufacturing Corporation
(CPCMC) c)

Century Sidewide Smelting Incorporated (CSSI) o)

Century Hua Guang Smelting Incorporated (CHGSD (b)

Summit Carrier,Inc. (CSC| ta)

@Based on the Parent Company's interest in the issued and outstand@ shares ofthe subsidiaries.
@CSSI and CHGSI hove not yet stdrted commercial operdtions.
@CPMDC and CPCMC were incorporated in 2015 and have not yet started commercial operations.
(d)Owned by the Parent Company through CPC.

The registered office address of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group") is at 14lF Equitable Tower, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, Salcedo
Village, Makati City.

100.00

100.00

100.00
60.00
55.00



The Parent Company's subsidiaries were all incorporated in the Philippines and
registered with the SEC. Their principal activities are as follows:

CPC and CHGSI Invest in and er,gage in the business of operating and
mining of any mineral resources in the Philippines such
as iron, ore, copper, gold, silver, lead, manganese,
chromites, nickel, etc.
Invest in and engage in the business of operating and
mining of any mineral resources in the Philippines and to
engage in the business of managing, administering solid
waste disposal system.
Engage in the business of operating and mining any
mineral resources in the Philippines, such as limestone,
lime, silica, iron ore, copper, gold, silver, lead,
manganese, chromites, nickel, among other minerals,
both metallic and non-metallic; prospecting exploring,
milling, concentrating, converting, smelting, treating,
refining, manufacturing, and preparing for market,
whether export or domestic, such mineral resources and
producing and dealing in all its products and by-products
ofevery kind and description and by whatsoever process,
the same can be or may hereafter be produced.
Engage in the business of manufacture, production and
merchandising, whether export or domestic, of cemen!
cement products and by-products, including its
derivatives and any and all kinds of minerals and
building materials.
Engage in the business of operating barges, steamships,
motorboats and other kinds of water crafts for the

CSSI

CPMDC

" transportation ofcargoes and passengers.

Mineral Rights of CPC
The table below summarizes CPC's mineral rights:

Tenement Designation
Area Covered
(in Hectares) Location

CPCMC

CSCI

Mineral Production Sharing
Agreement (MPSA) 01 0-92-X

MPSA.283 -2OOg.XIII-SMR
Application for Mineral

Production Sharing Agreement
(APSA) 086-Xrrr

Casiguran, Loreto, Dinagat Islands

Libjo (Albor), Dinagat Islands

Aco.ie, Loreto, Dinagat Islands

1,198

3,1 88

660

MPSA-010-92-X or the "Casiguran Nickel Project," was acquired by CPC from
Casiguran Mining Corporation by virtue of a deed of assignment on May 29, 2006,
which was approved by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR)
on. December 11, 2006. In addition, MPSA-283-2009-XIII-SMR or the "Rapid City
Parcel II Prospect" ("Rapid City") was approved by the DENR on June 19,2009.

The Acoje Properly is covered by APSA-086-XIU and Environmental Compliance
Certificate (ECC) No. 008-345-301C, APSA-086-XIII is still under final evaluation with
the Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB) Central OfFrce as at December 31, 2015.

a



The Smelting Plant Project
CHGSI
CHGSI was registered and incorporated with the SEC on January 14, 2008. The
principal activities of CHGSI are to invest in and engage in the business of operating and
mining mineral resources in the Philippines such as iron ore, copper, gold, silver, lead,
manganese, chromites, nickel, etc.; prospecting, exploring, milling, concentrating,
converting, smelting, treating, refining, and manufacturing; preparing for the market,
whether export or domestic; and producing and dealing in all its products and
by-products ofevery kind and description and by whatsoever process the same can be or
may be hereafter be produced.

On October 28, 2009, CHGSI was registered with Philippine Economic Zone Authority
(PEZA) under Republic Act (RA) No. 7916 as an ecozone export enterprise engaged in
the production of ferro-nickel (pig iron) at the Leyte Industrial Development Estate -
Special Economic Zone (LIDE-SEZ).

By virtue of its PEZA regishation, CHGSI is entitled, among bther incentives, to four (4)
years income tax holiday, which shall be reckoned upon its start of commercial
operations, as well as tax and duty free importation of its capital equipment and raw
materials, subject to its compliance with the terms and conditions of its registration.

cs,s/
In 2011, the Parent Company entered into a partnership with Sidewide Resources (H.K.)
Limited, a subsidiary of Chaoyang Saiwai Mining Co., Ltd of P. R. China., a group that
owns an iron powder processing plant, electric fumace smelting plant, and primarily does
mineral ore trading. It is the Parent Company's plan to set up elecffic furnaces in the
future to enhance the production of its nickel pig iron. From this formed parfirership,
CSSI is incorporated

Mining Operations
'CPC has mining activities in selected areas covered by its MPSA in the province of
Dinagat Islands.

There are two Geologic Resource Evaluation Reports for the Casiguran Nickel Project
and a Resource Evaluation Report for the Rapid City Parcel II Prospect, which were
prepared by Dr. Carlo A. Arcilla, an accredited competent person in accordance with the
definition ofthe Philippine Mineral Reporting Code.

Based on the reports, the Casiguran Nickel Project and Rapid City Parcel II Prospect
have a combined indicated and measured resource of 9,897,000 DMT with a grade of
I .02% nickel (at 0.8% nickel cut-off) and 9,067 ,000 DMT with a grade of 1 .07% nickel
(at0.8% nickel cut-off), respectively. These represent 100,000 metric tons of pure nickel
and 3.5 million tons of iron and 90,000 tons of pure nickel and 3.8 million tons of iron
for the Casiguran Nickel Project and Rapid City Parcel II Prospect, respectively, subject
to mining plans and metal recovery parameters.

Management looks forward to continue developing and exploring these mineral
properties either on its own or with joint venture parfirers.

Registration of CPC with the Board of Investments (BOI)
On May 7, 20L0, CPC was registgred with the BOI with Certificate of Registration
No. 2010-093 (the "BOI Registration"), on its mining and extraction of nickel ore at
Casiguran, Loreto, Dinagat Islands (the "Project"), as a new project on a Non-Pioneer
Status underthe Omnibus lnvestments Code of 1987 (Executive OrderNo.226).

-J-



As a BOl-registered entrty, CPC is entitled to the following incentives, among others:

a. Tax credit on taxes and duties paid on raw materials and supplies in producing its
export product for a period of ten (10) years from start of commercial operations;

b. Importation of consigned equipment for a period of ten (10) years from date of
registration;

c. Exemption from wharfage dues, any export tax, duties, imposts and fees for a ten
(10) year period from date ofregistration; and

d. Simplification of customs procedures for the importation of equipment, spare parts,
raw materials and supplies.

on January 14,20L5, BoI granted the company's request to amend the Specific Terms
and Conditions of its BOI Registration, which entitled the Project to a one-year Income
Tax Holiday incentive covering taxable year 2014 only.

The Cement and Limestone Project
CPCMC ond CPMDC
Through MPSA 046-96-VII and MPSA 047-96-YIJ expiring in 2021, the Group has
4,795 hectares in Pinamungahan, Cebu to mine limestone. An initial resource assessment
conducted tn 2012 on an 81 hectare area estimate as indicated limestone resource of
34,000,000 metric tons (see Note 23).

In April and July 2015, the Group was able to obtain the ECC for the Cement
Plant/Power Plant and Limestone Quarry Project, respectively.

CSU
On December 8, 2011, CSCI was registered with the Maritime Industry Authority with- 
Certificate No. DSO-2006-003-086 QOtq under Marina Circular 20d6-003, *hi.h i.
valid until December 7,2017.

2. Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs are based on International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). PFRSs consist of PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs), and
Philippine Interpretations issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for
iszue by the Group's Board of Directors (BOD) on May 12,2016.

-gasis of Measuremeff
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis of
accounting.

Functional and Presentation Currency
The separate financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Group's
functional crurency. All financial information presented in Philippine peso has been
rounded-off to the nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated.
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Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include t}re accounts of the Group from the date
conhol was obtained by the Parent Company. Equity attributed to the equity holders of
the Parent Company is based on its share in net profits and net assets of the investees in
accordance with the investees' Articles of Incorporation.

The consolidated financial statements reflect the consolidated accounts of the Group.
Intra-group balances and any unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising
from intoa-group transactions are eliminated in the consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Parent Company, using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances.

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Parent Company and whose accounts
are included in the consolidated financial statements. Control exists when the Parent
Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns frotn its involvement with the
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
subsidiary. The financial statements of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date ttrat control cortrmences until the date control ceases.

Noncontrolling Interest
Noncontrolling interest represents the interests not held by the Parent Company in its
subsidiaries.

Use of Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRSs
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements. The judgments and estimates used in the accompanying consolidated

- financial statements are based on management's eyaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances as of the date of the Group's consolidated financial statements. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Judgments, estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and
are based on historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the
following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Legal Contingencies

.As. at December 31, 2015 and 2074, management, in consultation with outside counsel
haldling the Group's defense in legal matters, determined that there are no ongoing
litigations filed against the Group that would have a material adverse impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Determiningwhether an Arrangement Contains a Lease
The Group uses its judgment in determining whether an ,lrrangement contains a lease,
based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date and makes assessment of
whether the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets, the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset and the arrangement transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group.

Operating Lease - The Group as Lessee
The Group has entered into various ilrangements covering the lease of its warehouse,
equipment and residence of officers. In determining whether all significaflt risks and
rewards of ownership remain wittr the lessor or transferred to the lessee, the following
factors are considered:

a. the ownership of the asset does not transfer at the end of the lease term;

b. there is no option to purchase the asset at a price which is expected to be sufficiently
lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable such that, at the
inception of the lease, it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised;

c. the lease term is not for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is
not transferred;

d. at the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments
amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset; and

e. the leased assets are of such a specialized nature that only the lessee can use them
without maj or modifi cations.

The Group has determined that the lessors retain all"the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the properties and, as such, accounts for the agreements as operating leases.

Distinguishing between Property and Equipment qnd Inlvestment Property
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property. In making
its judgment, the Group considers whether the property generates cash flows largely
independent of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties generate
cash flows that are atfibutable not only to the properly but also to other assets used in the
production or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital appreciation
and another portion that is held for use in the production and supply of goods and
services or for administrative pufposes. If these portions can be sold separately (or lease
out separately under finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the
portion cannot be sold separately, the property is accounted for as investment properly
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgment is applied in determining whether
ancillary services are so significant that a properly does not quali$, as investment
.plqperly. The Group considers each property separately in making its judgment.

The Group has determined the parcels of land held for capital appreciation as investment
properties (see Note 8), while the land held for the construction of the smelting plant is
classified under property and equipment (see Note 9).
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Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the fufure and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty as of reporting date that have the most significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities and equity within the
next financialyear are as follows:

Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Trade Receivables
The Group maintains an allowance for impairment losses on receivables at a level
considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this
allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectability
of the accounts, These factors include, but are not limited to, the length of the Group's
relationship with the customer, the customer's payment behavior and known market
factors. The Group performs regular review of the age and status of receivables, designed
to specifically identiff accounts with objective evidence of impairment and provides
these with the appropriate allowance for impairment losses. The review is accomplished
using a combination of specific and collective assessment approaches, with the
impairment losses being determined for each risk grouping identified by the Group. The
amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made
different judgments or utilized different methodologies. An increase in the allowance for
impairment losses on receivables would increase the recorded operating expenses and
decrease current assets.

Trade receivables amounted to P63.8 million and P256.8 million as at December3l,
20 I 5 and 2014, respectively (see Note 5).

Estimating Net Realizable Value of Inventories
In determining the net realizable value of inventories, the Group considers inventory
obsolescence based on specific identification and as determined by management for
inventories estimated to be unsaleable in the future. The Group adjusts the'cost of
inventories to the net realizable value at a level considered adequate to reflect any market
decline in the value of the recorded inventories. The Group reviews, on a continuous
basis, the product movement, changes in customer deinands and introduction of new
products to determine whether these items should still be used in operations or otherwise
disposed of, and identifies inventories which are to be written-down to net realizable
values. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if
different judgments were made or different estimates were utilized. An increase in
inventory obsolescence and market decline would increase recorded operating expenses
and decrease current assets.

The cost and net realizable value of inventories amounted toPl70.2 million andP49.9
million as at December 31,2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 6). The loss on
inventory write-down to NRV amounted to P15.1 million and nil for the years ended
December 3 l, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Input Value-added Tax (VAT)
The Group maintains an allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate
to provide for probable unrecoverable amounts of input VAT. The level of this allowance
iS-eiialuated by management on the basis of factors that affect the recoverability of the
accbunt.

Management has provided allowance for input VAT amounting to P9.1 million as at
December 31,2015 and 2014. The carrying amount of input VAT as at December 31,
2015 and 2014 amounted to P50.4 million andP52.9 million, respectively (see Notes 7

and 12).

-7 -



Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment
The Group reviews at each reporting date the estimated useful lives (EUL) of propeffy
and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for
use and updates these expectations if actual results differ from previous estimates due to
physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence. It is possible that
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates
brought about by changes in the factors mentioned. A reduction in the EIIL of property
and equipment will increase the recorded depreciation and amortization expense and
decrease noncurrent assets.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, properly and equipment (excluding mine site
development cost), net of accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization,
amounted to P616.8 million andP764.4 million, respectively (see Note 9).

Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Nonfinancial Assets
The Group assesses the impairment of its explored mineral resources, property and
equipment, deferred exploration costs and investment propErties whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets or group of assets
may not be recoverable. Factors that the Group considered in deciding when to perform
impairment review includes the following, among others:

. The period for which the Group has the right to explore the specific areas has expired
or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

' Substantive expenditure on fufher exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific atea is neither budgeted nor planned;

. Exploration for the evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led
to the discovery of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity
has decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;

. Sufficient data exist to indicate flrat, although a dwelopment in the specific area is
likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the explored mineral resource is unlikely to
be recovered in fulI from successful development or by sale;

. Significant under-perforrnance of a business or product line in relation to
expectations;

. Significant negative industry or economic tends; or

. Significant changes or planned changes in the use ofthe assets.

In 2013, the Group recognized impairment losses on its property and equipment
amounting to Pi97.0 million, resulting from the destruction caused by ffihoon Yolanda,
based on the fair value of the assets.

As..at December 31, 2015 and 2014, management assessed that there are no impairment
indicators relating to the Group's non-financial assets, other than input VAT.
Accordingly, the Group did not recognize any impairment losses on its nonfinancial
assets in 2015 and2074.

The carrying values of investment properties, properly and equipment, and explored
mineral resources are disclosed in Notes 8, 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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Impairment of Explored Mineral Resources
The Group recognized explored mineral resources at its fair value as of initial
recognition. The Group estimated the fair value based on the cash flow generation of the
relevant mineral property covered by the acquired MPSA. Assumptions and methods
used in the estimation are disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
The amount initially recognized would differ if the Group utilized different valuation
methodologies and assumptions. Using a different amount to recognize the explored
mineral resources as of initial recognition would affect the periodic amortization expense
and any impairment losses which may be subsequently recognized.

The carrying amount of explored mineral resources amounted to Pi.S billion and
P 1 .9 billion as at December 3 1, 20 15 and 2014, respectively (see Note 10).

E s timatin g Rec ov er able Res erve s
Recoverable reserves and resource estimates for development projects are, to a large
extent, based on the interpretation ofgeological data obtained from drill holes and other
sampling techniques and feasibility studies which derive estimates of costs based upon
anticipated tonnage and grades of ores to be mined and processed, the configuration of
the ore body, expected recovery rates from the ore, estimated operating costs, estimated
climatic conditions and other factors. Proven reserve estimates are atffibuted to future
development projects only where there is a significant commitrnent to project funding
and execution and for which applicable governmental and regulatory approvals have
been secured or are reasonably certain to be secured.

All proven reserve estimates are subject to revision, either upward or downward, based
on new information, such as from block grading and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices, contract terms or development
plans.

Estimates ofreserves for undeveloped or partially developed areas are subject to greater
uncertainty over their fufure life than estimates for reserves for areas that are
substantially developed and depleted. As an area goes into production, the amount of
proven reserves will be subject to future revision once additional information becomes
available. As those areas are further developed, new information may lead to revisions. It
is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by
changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amount
and timing of recorded depletion expenses for any period would be affected by changes
in these factors and circumstances.

The carrying amount of mine site development cost amounted to P391.7 million and
P398.8 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 9).

The carrying amount of explored mineral resources amounted to P1.8 billion and Pl.9
billion, as at December 31,2015 and20l4, respectively (see Note 10).

Estimated remaining reserve amounted to 19.3 million WMT and20 million WMT as at
December 3 1, 20 I 5 and 201 4, respectively.

Estimating Provis ion for Site Rehabilitation
ln determining the provision for mine rehabilitation, the Group considers factors that afi[ect

the calculation of the ultimate liability. These factors include, but not limited to, the extent

and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory changes and changes.

in discount rates. The Group reviews and updates these factors on a continuous basis. It is
possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by change in the
provision for site rehabilitation brought about by the changes in the factors mentioned.
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As at December 31, 2015 and2014,the provision for site rehabilitation costs amounted
to Pl l.3 million and PI0.3 million, respectively (see Note 14).

Estimating Realizability of Deferred Tm Assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each reporting date and
reduces the carrying amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufticient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Group
also reviews the expected timing and tax rates upon reversal of temporary differences and
adjusts the impact of defened tax accordingly. The Group's assessment on the recognition of
defened tax assets is based on the forecasted taxable income of the subsequent reporting
periods. This forecast is based on the Group's past results and future expectations on
revenues and expenses.

Recognized deferred tax assets amounted to P3.4 million and P62 million as at
December 3I,2015 and2}l4,respectively (see Note 18).

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years
presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently
by the Group, except for the changes in accounting policies as explained below.

Adoption of Amendments to Standards
The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards and new interpretation
starting January I, 2015 and accordingly, changed its accounting policies. Except as

otherwise indicated, the adoption of these amendments to standards and interpretation did
not have any significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.-

"' Annual Improvements to PFRSs: 2010 - 2012 and 2011 - 2013 Cycles - Amendments
were made to a total of nine standards, with changes made to the standards on
business combinations and fair value measurement in both cycles. Earlier application
is permitted, in which case the related consequential amendments to other PFRSs
would also apply. The following are the said improvements or amendments to PFRSs
applicable to the Group:

o Scope of portfolio exception (Amendment to PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement).
The scope of the PFRS 13 portfolio exception - whereby entities are exempted
from measuring the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial
liabilities with offsetting risk positions on a net basis if certain conditions are met
- has been aligned with the scope of PAS 39, Financial lnstruments Recognition
and Measurements, and PFRS 9, Financial lnstruments.

PFRS 13 has been amended to clarifu that the portfolio exception potentially
applies to contracts in the scope of PAS 39 and PFRS 9 regardless of whether
they meet the definition of a financial asset or financial liability under PAS 32 -

. e.g. certain contracts to buy or sell non-financial items that can be settled net in
' cash or another financial instrument.
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Restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortization) on revaluation
(Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38). The amendments clariff the requirements
of the revaluation model in PAS 16 and PAS 38, recognizing that the restatement
of accumulated depreciation (amortization) is not always proportionate to the
change in the gross carrying amount of the asset. PAS 16 and PAS 38 have been
amended to clari$ that, at the date of revaluation: the gross carrying amount is
adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset - e.g. restated in proportion to the change in the carrying
amount or by reference to observable market data; and the accumulated
depreciation (anortization) is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross

carrying amount and the carrying amount of the asset after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses; or the accumulated depreciation (amortization)
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset.

Definition of 'related party' (Amendment to PAS 24, Related Party Disclosure).
The definition of a 'related pafiy' is extended to include a management entity
that provides key management personnel (KI\,P) serVices to the reporting entity,
either directly or through a group entrty. For related party hansactions that arise

when KMP services are provided to a reporting entity, the reporting entity is
required to separately disclose the amounts that it has recognized as an expense

for those services that are provided by a management entity; however, it is not
required to 'look through' the management entity and disclose compensation
paid by the management entity to the individuals providing the KMP services.

The reporting entity will also need to disclose other transactions with the
management entity under the existing disclosure requirements of PAS 24 - e.g.

loans.

Recognition of Financial lnstruments
Date of Recognition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the
consolidated statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The Group determines.the classification of its frnancial
assets and liabilities on initial recognition and, where applicable and appropriate,
re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. In the case ofa regular way purchase

or sale of flrancial assets, recognition and derecoguition, as applicable, is done using
trade date accounting. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulations or convention in the
marketplace.

Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments. Financial instruments are recognized
initially at fair value, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at a measurement
date. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the
transaction price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or received). If a financial
asset is not subsequently accounted for at FVPL, the initial measurement includes
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the asset's acquisition or origination.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: HTM investments,

,A.FS financial assets, FVPL financial assets and loans and receivables. The Group
classifies its financial liabilities as either FVPL financial liabilities or other financial
liabilities. The classification depends on the Group's business model for managing

financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
instruments. The management determines the classification of its financial assets and

liabilities at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at every reporting date.
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As at December 31, 2015 and2014,the Group has no designated FVPL financial assets
and liabilities and HTM investments.

Loans and Receivables. Loans and receivables are financial assets with fxed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in afl active market. They are not entered into
with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as AFS or
FVPL financial assets. Such assets are recognized initially at fak value. After initial
recognition, loans and receivables are subsequent$ measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment losses, if:

. the loans and receivables are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
such assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the loans and receivables give rise, on specified dates, to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any- discount or premium on
acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognized or
impaired, as well as through amortization process. Loans and receivables are classified as
current assets if maturity is within 12 months from the reporting date. Otherwise, these
are classified as noncurrent assets.

Loans and receivables comprise of cash, trade receivables, due from related parties, long-
term receivable, advances to employees, and rehabilitation funds.

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks, which is stated at face value.

The current portion of the Group's long-term receivable and advances to employees,
suppliers and third parties are included as part of "Other current assets" account in the

'consolidated statements of financial position. The noncurrent portion of long-term
receivable and rehabilitation funds are included as part of "Other noncurrent assets"
account in the consolidated statements of financial position.

AFS Financial Assets. AFS securities are financial assets which are designated as such,
or do not quali$, to be classified or have not been classified under any other financial
category. They are purchased and held indefinitely and may be sold in response to
liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions. These include debt and equlty
securities.

After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value, other than impairment losses, and foreign cwrency differences on
AFS equity securities are recognized in other comprehensive income as "Unrealized
gains or losses on AFS securities" and are presented within equity. The losses arising
from the impairment of such securities are recognized in profit or loss. When the security
is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive

.income is transferred to profit or loss. The effective yield component of AFS debt
sqcurities, as well as the impact of restatement on foreign currency-denominated AFS
debt securities, is reported in profit or loss.

When the fair value of AFS financial assets cannot be measured reliably because of lack
of reliable estimates of unobserved inputs such as in the case of unquoted equlty
instruments, tlese financial assets are allowed to be carried at cost less impairment, if
any.
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This category includes equlty securities not held for control or significant influence over
the investee.

Other Financial Liabilities. This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held
for trading or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability. These include
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings.

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are
measured at arrortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the effective
interest method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any
directly attributable transaction costs.

Included in this category are the Group's accounts payable and other current liabilities
(other than liabilities covered by other PFRSs, such as income tax payable) and amounts
due to related parties that meet the above definition.

'Day 1'Profit
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of
other observable current market transactions of the same instrument or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the
Group recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value
(a 'Day 1' profit) in profit or loss. In cases where no observable data are used, the
difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or
loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For
each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the
'Day I' profit amount.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statements of financial position if and only if the Group has an enforceable
legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is generally not
the case with master netting agreements, thus, the related assets and liabilities are
presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable apart ofa financial asset or part ofa group of
similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

' The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

' The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a
"pass through" arrangement; or

? The Group has fransferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either
has: (a) transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control ofthe asset.
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When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group,s
continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to pay.

Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged
or cancelled or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is toeated as a derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, with the difference in the
respective carrying amounts recognized in profit or loss.

Determination of Fair Values
The Group's accounting policies require the determination of fair values, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes, when necessary, based on the estimated
amounts that would be received to sell an asset or paid to ftansfer a liability in an orderly
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. When applicable, the Group uses valuation
techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which suff,rcient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. Information about the assumptions made in
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. -

. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the
" inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

' Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

' Level2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly
(i.e., derived from prices); and

' Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized
in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorized in
its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is
significant to the entire measurement. Transfers bef;reen levels of the fair value hierarchy
are recognized atthe end ofthe reporting period during which the change has occurred.

-14-



Inventories
Inventories, which consist of nickel and chromite ores, are measured at the lower of cost
and net realizable value (NRV). NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. The Group uses the average method of inventory costing. Under the
average cost formula, the cost of each item is determined from the average of the cost of
similar items at the beginning of a period and the cost of similar items purchased or
produced during the period. The average may be calculated on a periodic basis, or as

each additional shipment is received, depending upon the circumstances of the entity.

Cost represents the average cost and comprises direct materials, labor and production
overhead expenditure, including depreciation and amortization incurred in converting
materials to finished products.

Investment Properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cos! including transaction costs. The
Group's invesftnent properties are held either to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation or both. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried
at cost less any impairment in value.

Investment properties are derecognized when these have been disposed or when the
investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
investment properties are recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in
use, evidenced by ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to
another party. Transfers are made from investrnent properties when, and or,rly when,
there is a change in use, evidenced by comniencement of owner-occupation or
corlmencement of development with a view to sale.

Transfers between invesfinent property, owner-occupied property and inventories do not
change the carrying amount of the properly transferred and they do not change the cost of
that property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

Explored Mineral Resources
Explored mineral resources represent the Group's intangible asset for its right to mine
certain areas. Such intangible asset, which has a definite useful life, was acquired by the
Group in relation to its acquisition of a group of assets.

Explored mineral resources are initially recoguized at fair value based on the cash flow
generation of the relevant mineral property covered by the acquired MPSA which is the
deemed cost, subsequently stated at initial amount less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortization of explored mineral resources is

calculated using the units-of-production method based on estimated recoverable reserves,
as this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic

--benefits embodied in the asset, and is directly charged as an expense during the period.

Amortization shall begin when the nickel ore extraction begins or when the mine site is
in the condition when it is capable to operate in the manner intended by management,
whichever is earlier. Amortization shall cease at the earlier of the date that the intangible
assets is classified as held for sale in accordance with PFRS 5 and the date that asset is
derecognized.
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The estimated recoverable reseryes and the anortization method are reviewed
periodically to ensure that the estimated recoverable reserves and method of depletion are
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the explored mineral
resources. If the estimated recoverable reserve is different from previous estimates, the
basis ofdepletion shall be changed accordingly

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, except for land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and amortization, depletion and impairment losses, if any.'Land is carried at cost less any
impairment in value.

Initially, an item of property and equipment is measured at its cost, which consists of its
purchase price and any directly atfributable cost in bringing the asset to the location and
condition for its intended use. Subsequent costs (including costs ofreplacing a part ofan
item of property and equipment) that can be measured reliably are added to the carrying
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of an asset are recognized as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

Mine site development costs represent the cost of road network, pier, stockyard and other
costs incurred in constructing the production infrastructure for the intended mining
operations. When exploration results are positive or corlmercially viable, cost incurred
for development of mining properties are deferred as incurred.

Depletion of mine site development cost is computed based on ore exfaction over the
estimated volume of proven and probable ore reserves, as estimated by the Group's
geologist and certified by an independent geologist, or over the estimated life of specific
components whichever results in a shorter period of d@letion.

Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the EUL
of the assets. Depreciation, amortization and depletion cofilmences once the assets
become available for use.

Number of Years

Transportation and field equipment
Office equipment
Office space and improvements

4- 10
3-5
25

The assets'residual values, useful lives and depreciation, anortization and depletion
methods are reviewed annually and adjusted, if appropriate, to ensure that the methods
and period of depreciation, amortization and depletion are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. Any change in the
expected residual values, EUL and methods of depreciation, amortization and depletion
is adjusted prospectively from the time the change was determined necessary.

When an asset is disposed of, or is retired from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposal, the cost and accumulated depreciation, amortization,
depletion and impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting
gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of property and equipment (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item)
is recognized in profit or loss.
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Construction in progress represents properly and equipment under construction and is
stated at cost. This includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Assets under
construction are tansferred to ttre related properly and equipment account when the
construction and installation and related activities necessary to prepare the property and
equipment for the intended use are completed, and the propefly and equipment are ready
for services. Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time that the relevant
assets are completed and put into operational use but tested for impairment losses.

Deferred Exploration Costs
All costs directly atFibutable to the exploration and evaluation of mineral resources are
deferred on a project by project basis until commencement of commercial mining
operations or until an impairment is considered necessary. The recoverability of the
amounts recorded as deferred exploration costs is dependent on the existence of
economically recoverable reserves and future profitable production from the mineral
properties.

Deferred exploration costs are provided with appropriate allowance for impairment losses
when properties are abandoned or when cost exceeds net realizable value. No depletion
and amortization expense is included in profit or loss for the cement project since the
project has not yet reached commercial mining operations.

Assets Held for Sale
Noncurrent assets or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as

held-for-sale if its highly probable that they will recovered primarily through sale rather
than through continuing use.

Such assets or disposal groups are generally measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less cost of disposal. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is
allocated frst to goodwill and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata
basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets,

employee benefit assets, or investment properly, wtrich continue to be measured in
accordance with the Group's other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are
recognized on profit or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible asset and properly, plant and equipment are
no longer amortized or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer
equlty accounted.

Impairment
Financial Assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (an incuned "loss evenf') and that the loss event had a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
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If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried
at amortized cost has been incured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). Time value is generally not considered when the efflect of the discounting is
not material. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based
on the original effective interest rate of the asset. The financial assets, together with the
associated allowance accounts, is written-off when there is no realistic prospect of fufure
recovery and all collateral, ifany, has been realized or has beentransferred to the Group.
Impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually asses$ed financial asset, whether
significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed, either directly or by adjusting an
allowance account. Any subsequent reversal is recognized in profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal
date.

Nonfinancial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's nonfinancial assets, such as property and
equipment, defened exploration costs, explored mineral resources, investment properties
and other noncurrent assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, or whether there is any indication
that an impairment loss previously recognized for an asset in prior periods may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists and when the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating units
(CGU) to which the asset belongs is written-down to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or investments or, if it is not
possible, for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of a nonfinancial asset is the greater of the asset's fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value is the amount obtainable from the
sale of the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at a measurement
date,less the costs of disposal. Value in use is the presentvalue of the future cash flows

."expected to be delivered from an asset or CGU. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash flows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss in the year in
which it arises. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has
been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asse!
however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any accumulated depreciation and amortization for property and
equipment, net of any depletion for mine site development cost) had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss. After such reversal, the. depreciation, amortization and
depletion expense is adjusted in future years to allocate the asset's revised carrying
amount less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining life.

Equitv
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding. When the
Group issues more than one class of stock, a separate account is maintained for each class
of stock and the number of shares issued.

When the shares are sold at premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par
value is credited to "Additional paid-in capital" account. When shares are issued for a
consideration other than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the
consideration received. In case the shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of
the Group, the shares shall be measured either at the fair value of the shares issued or fair
value of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably determinable.

Direct cost incurred related to the equlty issuance, such as underwriting, accounting and
legal fees, printing costs and taxes are chargeable to additional paid-in capital. If
additional paid-in capital is not sufficient, the excess is charged to deficit.

Retained earnings represents the accumulated income (losses) of the Group.

Revenue
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Sale of Nickel Ore
Revenue from sale of nickel is recognized in profit or loss on the date that minerals are

delivered to the customer. Revenue is the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of taxes, such as VAT (if applicable).

Incentive Revenue
Incentive revenue is recognized upon delivery of goods to the customer and when
amount is fixed and determinable.

Interest Income
Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest

,-method.

Other Income
Other income pertains to non-recurring gains recognized in profit or loss such as disposal

of assets and investment properties. lncome is earned when risks and rewards over the

assets are transferred to the buyer.
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Expenses
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in equity,
other than those relating to distributions to equity participants. Expenses are generally
recognized when the services are rendered or the expenses are incurred.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales is recognized when the expense is incurred and is reported in the
consolidated financial statements in the periods to which it relates.

Operating Expenses
Expenses incurred in the general administration of the day-to-day operation of the Group
are generally recognized when the service is rendered or the expense is incurred.

Taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is
recognized in profrt or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly
in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognized in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

Current Tm
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the
amount expected to be paid to the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute this amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as at the
reporting date.

Deferued Tm
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes and the carryforward tax benefits of the net
operating loss carryrover (NOLCO) and the excess of minimum corporate income tax
(MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT). The amount of deferred tax
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities, carr5rforward benefits of NOLCO and MCIT, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is not recognized for:

r temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss;

r temporary differences related to invesfinents in subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date. A deferred
tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward tax
benefits of NOLCO and MCIT can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviiwed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.
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In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the
impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due.
The Group believes that its accrual for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years
based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior
experience. Tax assessments rely on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series
ofjudgments about future events. New information may become available that causes the
Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax availabilities; such
changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination
is made.

Defened tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

VAT
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:

' where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable
from the tax authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of
acquisition ofthe asset or as part ofthe expense item as applicable; and

. receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included
as part of receivables or payables in the Group's consolidated statements of financial
position.

Final Tax
Final tax represents tax on interest income derived from bank deposits. Final tax is

, recognized in profit or loss in the same period when the related interest income is
recognized and is withheld by the depository bank for remittance to the taxing authority.

Forei gn Currencv Transactions
The functional and presentation crurency of the Group is the Philippine peso.
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in Philippine peso based on the exchange
rates prevailing at the fiansaction dates. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets
and liabilities are translated into Philippine peso using the prevailing exchange rate at the
reporting date. Exchange gains or losses arising from translation of foreign currency
denominated items at rute different from those at which they were previously recorded
are recognized in profit or loss.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past event it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognized for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rute that reflects the current market assessment of
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risk specific to the obligation.
Where discounting is used, the increase in ttre provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as interest expense.
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Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognized only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in profit or loss, net of any reimbursement.

Provis ion for Site Rehabilitation
The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive
obligations required to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is
incurred. The nature of these restoration activities includes dismantling and removing
structures, rehabilitating mines and tailing dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure
of plant and waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas.
The obligation generally arises when the ground/environment is disturbed at the
production location. When the liability is initially recognized, the present value of the
estimated cost is capitalized by increasing the carryihg amount of the related mine assets.
Overtime, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on
the discount rates that reflect current market assessments and the risks specific to the
liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive inoome as a finance cost. Additional disturbances or
changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are
not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Related Parties
Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant
'influence over the other party in making financial. and operating decisions. Such
relationship also exists between andlor among entities which are under common control
with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprise and its
key management personnel, directors, or its stockholders. In considering each possible
related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and
not merely the legal form.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Basic earnings (loss) per share in the consolidated financial statements is determined by
dividing net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding, after giving retroactive effect to any
stock dividends declared during the year. Diluted EPS is computed in the same manner as

basic EPS, however, net income attributable to common shares and the weighted average
number of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common
shares.

Operatine Segments
Operating segments are components of the Group: (a) that engage in business activities
from which they may earn revenue and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses
relating to transactions with other components of the Group); (b) whose operating results
are regularly reviewed by the Group's BOD to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and (c) for which discrete financial
information is available. The Group's Chief Operating Decision Maker is the Parent
Company's BOD.
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For purposes of management reporting, the Group has only one segment which
represents its mineral extraction operations.

Events After the Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group's financial
position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated fnancial
statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed when
material.

Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods
beginning after January 1,2015. However, the Group has not applied the following new
or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Unless
otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have a significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Effictive January 1, 2016

' Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments
to PAS 16 and PAS 38). The amendments to PAS 38, Intangible Assets, introduce a
rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based amortization methods for
intangible assets is inappropriate. This presumption can be overcome only when
revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are
'highly correlated', or when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue.

The amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, explicitly state that
revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used for properly, plant and
equipment. This is because such methods reflect-factors other than the coniumption
of economic benefits embodied in the asset - e.g. changes in sales volumes and
prices.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1,2016, and are to be applied prospectively. Early application is permitted.

. Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to PAS 27). The
amendments allow the use of the equity method in separate financial statements, and
apply to the accounting not only for associates and joint ventures, but also for
subsidiaries.

Effective January I, 2018

. PFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2014). PFRS 9 (2014) replaces PAS 39 and
supersedes the previously published versions of PFRS 9 that introduced new
classifications and measurement requirements (in 2009 and 2010) and a new hedge
accounting model (in 2013). PFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification

. - . and measurement of financial assets, including a new expected credit loss model for
. calculating impairment, guidance on own credit risk on financial liabilities

measured at fair value and supplements the new general hedge accounting
requirements published in 2013. PFRS 9 incorporates new hedge accounting
requirements that represent a major overhaul of hedge accounting and introduces
significant improvements by aligning the accounting more closely with risk
management.
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4. .Cash

The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted.

Pfft,S 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces PAS 11 Construction
Contracts, PAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFNC lB
Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions
Involving Advertising Services. The new standard introduces a new revenue
recognition model for contoacts with customers which specifies that revenue should
be recognized when (or as) a company transfers control of goods or services to a
customer at the amount to which the company expects to be entitled. Depending on
whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognized over time, in a manner that
best reflects the company's performance, or at a point in time, when conhol of the
goods or services is transferred to the customer. The standard does not apply to
insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope
of other PFRSs. It also does not apply if two companies in the same line of business
exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties. Furthermore, if a
contract with a customer is partly in the scope of another IFRS, then the guidance on
separation and measurement contained in the other PFRS takes precedence.

However, the FRSC has yet to issue/approve this new revenue standard for local
adoption pending completion of a study by the Philippine Interpretations Committee
on its impact on the real estate industry. If approved, the standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1,20r8,with early adoption permitted.

Effective January 1, 20 I 9

' PF'RS 16 Leases supersedes PAS 17 Leases and the related Philippine Interpretations.
The new standard introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees under which
all major leases are recognized on-balance sheet, removing the lease classification
test. Lease accounting for lessors essentially remains unchanged except for a number
of details including the application of the new. lease definition, new sale-and-
leaseback guidance, new sublease guidance and new disclosure requirements.
Practical expedients and targeted reliefs were introduced including an optional lessee
exemption for short-term leases (leases with a term of 12 months or less) and low-
value items, as well as the permission of portfolio-level accounting instead of
applying the requirements to individual leases. New estimates and judgmental
thresholds that affect the identification, classification and measurement of lease
transactions, as well as requirements to reassess certain key estimates and judgments
at each reporting date were introduced.

PFRS 16 is effective for amual periods beginning on or after January l, 2019 . Earlier
application is not permitted until the FRSC has adopted PFRS 15. The Group is
currently assessing the potential impact of PFRS 16 and plans to adopt this new
standard on leases on the required effective date once adopted locally.

2015 2014

Cash in banks
Cash on hand

P10,321,230 P99,522,396
25,000 7,439

-24 -

P10,346,230 P99,529,935



Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates. Interest income eamed
amounted to P 45,93 6, P24,093 and p I g, g I g in 201 5, 201 4 and 20 1 3, respectively.

The Group's exposures to credit risk and foreign currency risk are disclosed in
Note 2l to the consolidated financial statements.

5. Trade Receivables

Trade receivables from sale of nickel ore amounted to P63,776,444 andP256,787 ,152 as
at December 31,2015 and2014, respectively. Receivables are noninterest-bearing and
are generally on a 30 to 60-day credit terms.

No allowance for impairment losses was recognized in 2015 andZ0l4.

The Group's exposures to credit risk and foreign curency risk are disclosed in
Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

6. Inventories

2015 2014
Nickel ore at NRV p167,885,565 p47,586,063
Chromite at cost 2,336A69 2,336,269

P170,221,834 P49,922,332

The loss on inventory write-down to NRV amounted to P15.1 million and nil for the
years ended December 3I,2015 and2074, respectively

In 2015, 2014 and 2013, the cost of inventories recognized in profit or loss amounted to
P152.9 million, P492.8 million andP52,l million respectively (see Note l6).

7. Other Current Assets - net

Note 2015 2014
Advances to:

Third parties
Employees

Prepaid expenses
Assets held for sale
Current portion of long-term receivable
Others

2i

P14,389,342
1,340,534
2,000,934

P16,609,690

10,681,399
8,192,497
6,045,r97

378,811

P17,730,810 P41,907,574

Thd.'Group's advances to third parties and employees are noninterest-bearing and are
collectible on demand.

Prepaid expenses primarily consists of prepaid taxes, insurance, supplies and various items
that are individually immaterial.
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Current portion of long term receivable pertains to receivable from sale of buses in 2013,
which was fully collected in20L5 (see Note 23).

The Group's exposure to credit risk in respect of long-term receivable and advances to
employees, suppliers and third parties is disclosed in Note 2l to the consolidated financial
statements.

8. InvestmentProperties

Investment properties consist of two parcels of land with carrying amount of
P21 .4 million as at December 31, 20LS and 201.4. Fair values, which represent the price
that would be received to sell the investment properties in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date on February 28, 2011, amounted to
P35.4 million.

The non-recurring fair values of invesfinent properties are determined by the Group
through an independent properly appraiser using the market data approach. In this
approach, the values of the parcels of land are based on sales and listings of comparable
property registered within the vicinity. The comparison is fremised on the factors of
location, size and share of the lot time element and others.

As at December 31, 2015 and2014,the investrrent properties are idle and did not earn
any income nor incur any related expenses, except for real properly tax amounting to
P0.02 million in 2015 and2014.
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Depreciatioq arnortization and depletion are recognized under the following:

Note 2015 2014 2013

Inventories
Cost of sales

6 P43,698,907 P651,918 P11,559,643
16 56,366,455 151,457,457 11,237,571

Operatngexpenses 17 217290992 6,786,688 7,041,198

P102,795,354 P158,896,057 P29,837,412

ln20l4, the Group has purchased multiple excavating equipment on installment payment
basis. Interest expense in relation to the transaction amounted to Pl.1 million and P0.8
million for the years ended December 31,2015 and2014, respectively.

Allowancefor Impairment Losses on Property and Equipment
The Group has recognized provision for impairment losses on its property and equipment
amounting to Pl97 million n 2013, following the impairment of some equipment
construction in progress and parcels of land of CHGSI irr Leyte caused by typhoon
Yolanda in November 2013. The fair value of these assets amounting to P54.4 million
was based on the price that would be received to sell the assets in an orderly transaction
between market participants, as estimated by an independent property appraiser.

As at December 31, 2015 and2014, no further impairment was assessed as the carrying
amount in the books represents the scrap value of the said assets.

10. Explored Mineral Resources

2015 2014

Cost P2,016,756,977 P2,016,756,977
Allowance for accumulated depletion .(212,376,113) (153,229,504)

P1,804380,864 Pl,863,527,473

The movements in the allowance for accumulated depletion as at December 31 are as

follows:

2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year P153,229,504
Depletion for the year 59,146,609

P54,668,424
98,561,080

Balance at end of year P212,376,113 P153,229,504

Explored mineral resources are part of the group of assets that CPC acquired in 2008, in
exchange for shares of stock of the Parent Company. At acquisition date, these explored
mineral resouraes were measured based on the expected cash flows from the explored
area of about 400.0 hectares or 42.0Yo of total area covered by the MPSA.
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The financial model yielded an expected net present value (NPV) on CPC's group of
assets amounting to P2.0 billion using an investment hurdle rate of 36.6%. The NPV
computation assumed an average selling price of USD 27,500.0 per mefric ton of pure
nickel, which considered a l6.2Yo discount to London Metal Exchange quoted prices; a
l5-year production and selling period with a maximum annual production yield of 2.0
million metric tons; and an average production cost of USD 6.4 per wet meh'ic ton. The
valuation was prepared by Asian Alliance Investment Corporation (AAIC), an
independent financial advisor. Subsequently, the Parent Company appointed
Multinational Investment Bancorporation (MIB), another independent financial advisor,
to render fairness opinion to the valuation. The result of MIB's report dated April 9, 2008
fairly approximated that of AAIC's report.

For purposes of computing the NPV using discountbd cash flow method, the valuation of
intangible assets involves the extraction of non-replaceable resource.

The assumptions used in the valuation included a number of market factors that are
subject to market risk, such as commodity risk and currencyiisk. Significant changes in
the commodity prices and foreign exchange rates would affect the fair value of the
explored mineral resource.

11. Deferred Exploration Cost

Deferred exploration costs pertains to expenditures related to exploration for economic
mineral deposits. This includes, among others, costs of exploration and mining rights
acquisition, geological, geochemical and geophysical surveys, drilling, labor, materials
and supplies, professional fees, community relations, and environmental management
expenditures athibutable to the cement project.

As at December 31,2075, the expenditures of the Group amounted to P31.6 million.
Exploration activities is covered by a Joint Operating.Agreement entered by the Group
through CPC (see Note 23).

12. Other Noncurrent Assets

201s 2At4

InputVAT
Defened input VAT
Allowance for impairment losses

on inputVAT (9,128,237\ (9,128,237)

P32,242,660 P26,649,142
27,371,810 35,375,175

Rehabilitation funds
AFS financial assets

50,486,233
9,043,451
1,500,000

52,896,080
9,532,049
1,500,000

P61,029,684 P63,928,129

Deferred input VAT pertains to the unamortized input VAT from purchase of field and
transportation equipment.
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Rehabilitation funds were set up by the Group to ensure availability of financial
resources for the satisfactory compliance with and performance of activities of its
Environmental Protection and Enhancement Program during the specific phases of its
Thirg projects. The funds also include a Social Development Managernent Program
fund under a Memorandum of Agreement with the Development Bank of the philipi'ines
(DBP).

The Group's rehabilitation funds are deposited with DBP and earn interest at the
respective bank deposit rates. The fund balance is compliant with the required balance of
MGB as at December 31,2015 and2014.

The input VAT as at December 31, 2014 was reclassified to other non-current assets
from current assets to conform with the current year presentation.

AFS financial assets pertain to the Parent Company's 3.0% ownership interest in Century
Peak Property Development, Inc. (CPPDI) representing 15,000 shares at p100.00 par
value, which are measured at cost less impairment, if any, in the absence of fair value.

13. Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities

2015 2014
Accounts payable
Contractors' fees
Others

P112,672,030
9,071,106

P269,171,499
8,071,106

899.153 1,079,254

Pl2l,642,2gg P27g,32l,g5g

The Company's accounts payable are usually paid within one year.

Contractor's fees pertain to outstanding payables to previously engaged contractor. Such
amount is being negotiated by both parties.

Others include statutory payables, accrued salaries and various items that are individually
immaterial.

The Group's exposure to liquidity risk is disclosed in Note 2I to the consolidated
financial statements.

14. Provision for Site Rehabilitation

The movements in this account are as follows:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year Pl0?83,147

"' " .-Accretion of interest 1,052,772
P9,344,635

938.512
Balance at end ofyear
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A provision is recognized for the estimated rehabilitation costs of the Group's mine site
upon termination of the MPSA, which is 25 years. The provision is calculated by the
Group's engineers based on an estimate of the expected cost to be incurred to rehabilitate
the mine site. The provision is presented at discounted value using the Philippine bond
yield of 9.93% as the effective interest rate. The accretion of interest is recognized as
part of"Interest expense" account in profit or loss.

15. Revenues

2015 2014 20t3
Sale of nickel ore
Incentive revenue from sale of

nickel ore

P184,067,912 P1,008,271,790 . 
p69,117,950

46,190,267
Income from charter services 285,714

P230,543,993 P7,008?71,790 p69,717,950

In 2015, the Group has entered into an incentive revenue agreement with a customer,
whereas the customer agreed to give incentive in the form of additional payment for
shipping and documentation assistance and shipping nickel ore with better quality as
stipulated in the sales and purchase contract.

16. Cost of Sales

Note 2015 2014 2013

Depreciation, depletion
and amortization

Fuel and oil
Contractors' fees
Rental
Royalties
Labor cost
Materials
Excise tax
Demurrage fee
Taxes and licenses
Utilities
Transportation expense
Other charges 3,580,515

9 P56,366,455
33,0391467
31,829,419
14,599,274
11,799,046

g162g,900

6,970,934
5,119,296
4,g2g,l3g
1,656,309
l,50g,g7g

4tg,g07

P151,457,451
123,077,424
36,980,714
70,213,033
45,974,554
15,017,787
26,943,006
18,396,212

5,236,458
764,172

26,351,644
5,751,879

P71,237,571
7,754,842
6,424,195
6,227,999
3,742,450
7,606,450

1,496,980
5,146,049

930,066

6.790.2s9

P181,345,539 P526,163,734 P57,356,761

Rental expenses consist of various lease agreements with third parties with terms of less
than one (l) year.

Royalties and excise tax pertain to the tax imposed on the sale of mineral resources,
whtich are 5o/o and2Yo,respectively, of the assessed value of the mineral ores by MGB.

Other charges include survey fees and various items that are individually immaterial.
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17. Operating Expenses

Note 2015 2014 20t3
Salaries, wages and

employee benefits
Taxes and licenses
Depreciation and

amortization
Professional fees
Service fee
Office supplies
Association dues
Utilities
Representation
Transportation and travel
Insurance
Repairs and maintenance
Fuel and oil
Customs and brokerage fees
Manning fees
Charitable contributions
Others

P9,449,300
3,933,119

2r72g,gg2
2,091,069
2,0371338
lrlg7,gg7

891,195
816,069
386,550
192,081
162,437
99,551
72,932

1,642,223

P9,94r,632
5,349,506

6,786,699
1,649,405
3,906,796
3,655,934

996,475
1,230,915

569,600
6,190,649

_ 703,7L9
769,726
ll1,g40

3,612,276
15,000

2,597.311

P70,014,512
3,773,909

7,041,199
2,994,062
6,013,724
3,115,267

80 1,139
1,699,047

996,034
2,600,392

g43,l2g
2,653,544
3,097,451

596,810
773,567
640,439

1.49s.043

P25,641,733 P47,384,370 P49,119,150

Others include bank charges and various items that are individually immaterial.

18. Income Taxes

In 2013, CPC incuned MCIT amounting to P298, 163 .which was applied against income
tax payable in 2015.

As mentioned in Note 1, CPC is registered with BOI on its mining and extaction of
nickel ore. No income tax expense was recognizedfor the year ended December 3l,2\l4
as the Company enjoyed tax credit amounting to PI28.7 million for income generated
from its Bol-registered activity under ITH.

The components of the Group's deferred tax assets (liability) recognized in the
consolidated statements of financial position are as follows:

2015
Recognized in

January 1 Profit or Loss December 31

Defened tax assets:

NOLCO P2,405,401 (P2,405,401) P -
Provision for site rehabilitation - net 3,084,944 309,832 3,394,776

--. . MCIT 298,163 Qg8,t63)
. Unrealized foreign exchange losses

(gains) 407,411 (568,050 (160,645)

P6,195,919 (P2,961,788) P3,234,131Net defened tax assets
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2014 January I
Recognized in
Profit or Loss December 3l

Deferred tax assets:

NOLCO
Provision for site rehabilitation - net
MCIT
Unrealized foreign exchange losses

P2,405,401
1,495,072

298,163

P.
1,589372

4r5,548

P2,405,401
3,084,944

298,163

407,411(eains) (8,137)

Net deferred tax assets P4,190,499 P2,005,420 P6,195,919

As at December 3I, 2014, the Group only recognized deferred tax asset on CPC's

NOLCO in 2013 amounting to P8 million, which was applied in 2015.

DTA arising from NOLCO of other entities in the Group totaling P35.1 million and

P33.8 million as at December 3L,20I5 and20l4 has not been recognized as management

believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income.will be available against

which these may be utilized.

As at December 31,2015, the Group has NOLCO which can be claimed as deduction

against future taxable income as follows:

Year
Incurred Amount Applied Expired

Exprry
Balance Year

20t5
2014
2013
20t2

P11,239,366 P - P

9,167,936
23,931,077 9,25r,710
8.706.565 - 8,706,565

P11,239,366 2020
9,167,936 2019

14,679,367 2018
- 2017

P53,044,944 P9,25r,710 P8,706,565 P35,086,669

Under Section 244 of National Internal Revenue Code of 1997,the net operating loss of a

business or enterprise for any taxable year immediately preceding the current taxable

year which had not been previously offset as deduction from gloss income, shall be

carried over as a deduction from gross income for the next three (3) consecutive taxable

years immediately following the year of such loss. Provided, that for mines other than oil
and gas wells, a net operating loss without benefits of incentives provided for under

Executive Order No. 226, As Amended, incurred in any of the first ten (10) years of
operation may be carried over as a deduction from taxable income for the next five (5)

years immediately following the year of such loss. Following this NIRC, CPC could

carry over its NOLCO for five (5) years, while the other subsidiaries of the Group could

carry over its NOLCO for three (3) years.
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The reconciliation of income tax expense (benefits) computed at the statutory tax rates to
income tax expense (benefits) recognized in profit or loss is summarized as follows:

2015 20t4 2013

Loss before income tax (p50,870,750) P336,404,440 e241,980,138)

Income tax expense computed at
statutory tax rates of 30%

Income tax effects of:
Income tax holiday benefits

incentive
Effect of change in

unrecognized deferred tax
assets and others

Expired NOLCO
AppliedNOLCO
Interest income subjected to

final tax
Nondeductible expenses
Final tax paid

(p15,261?25) P100,921,332 (P72,594,041)

- (128,737,818)

19,202,313
2,6ll,g7o
(370,L12)

(13,781)
4,552,033

17,941,756
7,845,6_43

(161)
23,829

66,923,803
4,336,3-95

(5,675)
(279,009)

4,261

P10,721,198 (P2,005,420) (P1,61 4,276)

19. Equity

Capital Stock

Number of
Shares Amount

Authorized, P1.0 par value 3,575,000,000 P3,575,000,000

lssued and outstanding 2,820,330,450 P2,820,330,450

On August 20,2009, the PSE approved the listing of the Group by way of introduction.

The Group has 213 holders of common equlty securities as atDecember 31,2015 and

2014.

The Group is compliant with the minimum public float of l0% that is required by the
PSE, where the Parent Company's shares are traded.
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Nonc ontr o ll ing Int er e s t
The following table summarizes the information relating to each Group's subsidiaries:

2015
CHGSI CSSI CSCI

NCI percentage 45 40 20

Current assets

Noncurrent assets
P598,755 P207,843,699 P42,952,739

54,362,162 - 147,192,600
Current liabilities 182,374,574 87,759,312 182,235,515

Net assets (liabilities) (P127,413,657) 120,084,387 P7,809,923

Carrying amount ofNCI (P57,336,t46) P48,033,755 P1,561,965

Revenue
Net income (loss)/total

comprehensive income (loss)

P270

(81r0e)

P - P11,335,714

(96,608) 1,191,475

Net income (loss/total
comprehensive income (loss)
allocated to NCI (P36,544\ (P38,643) P238,295

Cash flows from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing
activities

Cash flows from a financing
activity

(P22,469) (P96,608) P44,030,560

- (5,919,995)

58.519 G2.861.345\
Net decrease in cash (P22,469) (P38,089) 94,750,670)

20r4
CHGSI CSSI CSCI

NCI percentage 45 40 20

Current assets

Noncurrent assets
P621,223 P207,881,797 P124,641,505

80,545,561 - 155,470,964
Current liabilities 208,499,232 87,700,792 273,494,121

Net assets (liabilities) (Pt27,332,438) P120,180,995 (P6,619,349)

Carrying amount ofNCI (P57,299,597) P48,072,399 (p1,323,670)

Revenue
Net income (loss)/total

comprehensive income (loss)

P270

(219,615)

(P16) P4t,010,235

(78,784) 23,963,630

Net income (loss/total
comprehensive income (loss)
allocated to NCI (P98,827) (P31,514) P4,792,725

"- Cash flows from operating
. activities
Cash flows from investing

activities
Cash flows from a financing

activity

(P11,144) (P777,531) P48,651,138

- (41,939,441)

743,768

Net decrease in cash
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20. Related Party Transactions

The following are the significant related parly transactions and balances:

Outstanding Balance

Categorv/Transaction

Amount Duefrom
ofthe Related

Year Note Transaction Parties

Due to
Related
Parties Terms Conditions

Stockholder
Advances*

Under Common Control

Century Peak Energy
Corporalion

Advances

Philippines Dalishi
Mining Co., Inc.

Advances

Mineral Treasures
Mining Corporation

Advances

Others
Advances

Key Management Pe$onnel
Short-term benefits

8,921,s69 12,045,969

1,741,8s7 3,937,202

348,273 51s,597

1,349,658 3,790,171

3,706,638
2"234.285

2015 a

2014 q

P- P- P214,846.,884

392,113,7s5

Due on demandl
noninterest-bearing
Due on demand;
noninterest-bearing

Due on demand;
noninterest-bearing
Due on demand;
noninterest-bearing

Due on demand;
noninterest-bearing
Due on demand;
nonintsrest-bearing

Due on demand;
noninterest-bearing
Due on demand;
noninterest-bearing

Unsecuredl
no impairment
Unsecured;
no impairment

Unsecuredl
no impairment
Unsecured;
no impairment

Unsecuredl
no impairment
Unsecured;
no impairment

Unsecured;
no impairnent
Unsecured;
no impairment

201s b

2014 b

2015 b

2014 b

2015 b

2014 b

2015

20t4

201s
2014

b

b

Due on demandl Unsecuredl
noninterest-bearing noimpairment
Dueondemand; Unsecure{
nonintercst-beadng noimpairment

TOTAL 2015 P - P214,846,884

b.

TOTAL 2014 P20,288,939 P392,113,755

*Advatrccs to ilppliets mounting to Pl 10.9 million wqe applied against the outstuding advances to stoclholder in 2014.

a. Noninterest-bearing cash advances from stockholders were used by the Group to
finance its working capital requirements.

Noninterest-bearing cash advances to entities under common control were provided
by the Group to finance their working capital requirements.

On April 14, 2016, the Board of Directors executed a Memorandum of Agreement
whereby the Group has committed to legally transfer and/or assign its payables and
receivables from entities under common control to the stockholder.

Outstanding balance ofdue to stockholders are to be settled through cash.
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21. tr'inancial Risk and Capital Management Objectives and Policies

Financial Risk Management
Overyiew
The Group's financial instruments consist of cash, trade receivables, due from related
parties, rehabilitation funds, long-term receivable, advances to employees, due to related
parties and accounts payable and other liabilities. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to finance the Group's current operations. The main risks arising from the
use of these financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

Ris k Management Framew ork
The BOD and management have overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group's risk management framework.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identi& *d analyze the risks
faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 

-are 
reviewed regularly to

reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its
training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and
obligations.

There were no changes in the Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing
the risk and the methods used to measure the risk from previous year.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparly to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from
the Group's bank deposits and trade debtors and is nionitored on an ongoing basis. The
pbjective is to reduce the risk of loss through default by counterparties. The risk is
managed by spreading financial transactions, including bank deposits, across an approved
list of high quality banks.

Exposure to Credit Risk
The carrying amounts of financial assets, which are classified as loans and receivables,
represent the maximum credit exposure. Credit risk at the reporting date is as follows:

Note 2015 2014

Cash in banks
Trade receivables
Due from related parties
Advances to employees
Rehabilitation funds

4
5

20
,7

t2

P10,321230 P99,522,396
63,776,444 256,787,152

- 20,299,939
11340,534
9,043,451 9,s32,049

P84,481,659 P386,130,536

Tr.ade Receivables
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics
of each customer. The demographics of the Group's customer base have less of an

influence on credit risk.

The Group maintains a defined credit policy to ensure that the credit is given only to.
customers with an appropriate credit history. As such, the Group normally does not
obtain collateral from its customers.
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The Group establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of
incurred losses in respect of nade receivables. The main components of this allowance
are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a
collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that
have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined
based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

The table below shows aging analysis of trade receivables, advances to officers and
employees and due from related parties as at December 3.1, 2015 and2014:

2015
Neither Past Past Due but not Impaired

Due nor 1 - f80. Over
Impaired Davs 180 Davs Subtotal Total

Trade receivables
Due from related parties
Advances to officers and

elnployees

P25,695,9_69

1,340,534

P38,080,475 P39,090,475 P63,716,444

- 1.340.534

P27,036,503 P- P38,080,475 p39,080,475 p65,116,979

2014
Neither Past

Due nor
Impaired

Past Due but not Impaired
1 - I80 Over
Days 180 Days

Trade receivables
Due &om related parties
Advances to officers and

employees

P - P256,787,152
20,288,939

P25 6,787,152 P256,7 8'1,t52
- 20,288,939

P20,288,939 P256,787,152 P2s6,7 87,1.s2 P277,07 6,091

The Group believes that the unimpaired amounts-of not past due and past due are
collectible, based on historic payment behavior and extensive analysis of customers

' counterparties credit risk.

Cash in banks and rehabilitation funds are of high grade quality. High grade cash in
banks and rehabilitation funds are invested and deposited in reputable local banks. Trade
receivables, advances to employees and amounts due from related parties are of standard
grade quality as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Standard grade quality
financial assets are those assessed as having minimal to regular instances of payment
default due to ordinary/common collection issues. These accounts are typically not
impaired as the counterparties generally respond to credit actions and update their
payments accordingly.

The credit qualities of furancial assets that were neither past due nor impaired are
determined as follows:

' Cash and rehabilitation funds are based on the credit standing or rating of the
counterparty.

'. Trade receivables, advances to employees and amounts due from related parties are
based on a combination of credit standing or rating of the counterparty, historical
experience and specific and collective credit risk assessment.

Trade receivables which pertains to the outstanding accounts of customers that are more
than 60 days past due, amounts due from related parties and advances to employees, that
are neither past due nor impaired and are assessed to be fully collectible as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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Liquiditv Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the
obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in
assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular its cash resources. Cash balances are
managed with two main objectives: maintain maximum liquidity and minimize the cost
of borrowing.

Exposure to Liquidity Risk
The following tables summarize the maturity of the Group's financial liabilities as at
December 3I,2015 and20L4 based on confactual repayment arrangements:

2015
Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash Flows

Within
One Year

Accounts payable and other
current liabilities*

Due to related parties
P120,743,135

214,846,884
P120,743,135

214,846,894
P120,743,135

214,846,994

P335,590,019 P335,590,019 P335,590,019

*Excludes non-financial liabilities amounting to P89 9, I 5 3.

2014
Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash Flows

Within
One Year

Accounts payable and other
current liabilities* P277,242,604 P277,242,604 P277,242,604

Due to related parties 392,113,755 392,11,3,755 392,113,755
p669,356,359 P669,356,359 p669,356,359

*Excludes non-financial liabilities amounting to P l,07 9,2 54.

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur
significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates,
interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings
of financial instruments. The objective market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

Exposures to Foreign Currency Risk
The Group's currency exposure relates mainly to foreign curency transactions in which
trade receivables have to be collected and paid.
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The following table shows the Group's significant foreigr currency-denominated
monetary assets and liabilities and their U.S. dollar equivalents as at December 31,2015
and2014:

2015 2014
Philippine

U.S. Dollar Peso
Philippine

U.S. Dollar Peso

Current financial assets:

Cash
Receivables

$22,275
L,355,216

P1,048,261
63,776,465

$28,274 P1,264,399
5,742,II0 256,787,152

s1,377,491 P64,824,726 $5,77 0,384 P259,05 1,550

Sensitivity Analysis
The following table sets out, for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the
impact of the range of reasonably possible movement in the U.S. dollar to peso exchange
rates with all other variables held constant, on the Group's income before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

Strengthening Weakening

December 31,2015
U.S. dollar (5% movement)

December 31,2014
P2,268,865 (P2,268,865)

U.S. dollar (1% movement) 1,806,361 (1,806,361)

This analysis is based on foreign cturency exchange rate variances that the Group
considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period.

The Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. rites used for the ,"*, ended

*December 31, 2015 and 2014 are P47 .06 and P44.72, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, foreign exchange gains recognized in profit or loss
amounted to Pi.9 million and P1.4 million, respectively.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to maximizethe value of its
capital for the benefit of its shareholders and other stakeholders. ln order to achieve the
objective, the management of the Group reviews its operations and financial performance
with the forecasts on a regular basis to ensure that appropriate measures can be taken on a
timely and effective manner. In addition, management of the Group also meets regularly
to review the Group's capital requirement and the reasonableness of the level of its
capital to be maintained.
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The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio which is calculated as
total debt divided by total equrty. Total debt is equivalent to total liabilities. Total equity
comprises all components of equity including capital stock and retained earnings
(deficit).

2015 2014

Total liabilities
Less cash

P347,852,023 P680,719,760
10,346230 99,529.835

Net debt P337,505,793 P581,188,925

Total equity P2,844,338,157 P2,905,930,705

Net debt to equity ratio at December 31 0.12:l 0.20:1

Fair Values
The fair values of cash, trade receivables, due from and to related parties, advances to
employees, rehabilitation funds and accounts payable and other liabilities approximate
their carrying amounts.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each
class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash and Rehabilitation Fmds
The carrying amounts approximate fair values considering that these instruments are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Trade Receivables, Due from and to Related Parties, Advo;nces to Employees and
Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities

The carrying amounts approximate fair values duo to the short-term nature of such

.instruments. Management believes that the effect of discounting cash flows from these
instruments using the prevailing market rate is not significant.

AFS Financial Assets
The Group holds an investnent in equity shares of CPPDI, which is classified as AFS.

Quoted market price of these shares are not available since these shares are not listed on
any stock exchange in 2015 and20l4, and there were no recent observable transactions.

22. E,arnings (Loss) Per Share Computation

The following table presents information necessary to calculate earnings per share:

20ts 2014 2013

lncome (loss) attributable to
equlty holders of the Parent
Company (a) (P62,481,745\ P333,747,476 (P147,587,768)

ffeighted average number of
common shares outstanding (b) 2,820,330,450 2,820,330,450 2,820,330,450

Basicldiluted income (loss) per
share (a/b) (P0.0222) P0.1 183 (P0.0s23)

The Parent Company has no dilutive shares for the years ended December 3I,2015,2014
and20l3.
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23. Other Matters

Sales Contract with Froelich Tours, Inc.
On December 12,2013, the Group sold three (3) buses amounting to Pl1 million, which
is exclusive of VAT and sales discount of P0.6 million. This is payable in
twenty-three (23) equal monthly payments. Interest is 10% per annum. The cost to
acquire the buses amounted to P9.1 million. The Group recognized other income
amounting to P2.1 million in profit or loss in 2013. The receivables were fully collected
in 2015 (see Note 7).

Sales Contract with Shacman Motors, Inc.
On May 31, 2015, the Group sold assets held for sale, with carrying amount of
P8.2 million, pertaining to a group of transportation vehicles to Shacman Motors, Inc.
Payment for the buses was made directly to a stockholder and was offset against the
advances made by the stockholder to the Group (see Note 7).

Joint Operating Agreement with Philippine Mining Development Corporation (PMDC)
On November 18, 2010, CPC entered into a joint operating agreement with the PMDC,
whereby CPC will act as the operator in the exploration, development, mining operation
and utilization of the limestone and associated mineral deposits in Toledo and
Pinamungahan, Cebu owned by PMDC. The mineral deposit has a total area of 4,795
hectares and is covered by MPSA-045-96-VII and MPSA-046-96-VII.

The agreement has a term of 25 years and will entitle PMDC to a fixed annual royalty
rute of 3Yo of gross sales from the limestone project, whereas CPC shall be entitled to all
the risks and rewards in the mining operations. By virtue of the Agreemen! CPC shall
not acquire any title or ownership over the contract nor the mining area

The pre-operation and exploration activities are ongoing as at December 31,2015.
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REPORT OF II\DEPENDENT AI'DITORS
ON SUPPLEMENTARY II\IFORMATION

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries
1alF Equitable Tower, 8751iaseo de Roxas
Salcedo Village, Makati City

We have audited, in accordance with the Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated
financial statements of Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries
(the "Group") as at and for the year ended December 31,2A15, included in this form 17-A, and
have issued our report thereon dated May 12,2016.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial
statements of the Group taken as a whole. The supplementary information included in the
following accompanying additional components is the responsibility of the Group's management.
Such additional components include:

. Map of the Conglomerate

' Schedule of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations
. Supplementary Schedules of Annex 68-E

The supplementary information is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities
Regulation Code Rule 68, As Amended, and is not required part of the basic consolidated
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.
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CENTURY PEAK
SCHEDULE OT'

METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION
PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING

INTERPRETATIONS

AND SUBSIDIARIES
STAIIDARDS AND

Fromework tor lhe Preporolion ond presentqtion of Finqnciql
Stolemenis
Conceptuol Fromework Phose A: Objectives ond quolitotive
chorocteristics

PFRSs Proclice Slolemenl Monogement Commentory

Philippine Finonciql Reporting Siondords

PFRS I
(Revised)

Fkst-time Adoption of Philippine Finonciol Reporting
Stondords

Amendments to PFRS I ond PAS 27: Cost of on
lnvestment in o Subsidiory, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associote

Amendments to PFRS l: Additionql Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

Amendment to PFRS l: Limited Exemption from
Comporotive PFRS 7 Disclosures for Firsi-time Adopters

Amendments to PFRS I: Severe Hyperinflotion ond
Removol of Fixed Dote for First-time Adopters

Amendments to PFRS l: Government Loons

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2009 - 2011 Cycle: First-
time Adoption of Philippine Finonciol Reporting
Siondords - Repeoted Applicotion of pFRS I

Annuol lmprovemenis to PFRSs 2A09 - 2011 Cycle:
Bonowing Cost Exemption

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 20,I I - 20,l3 Cycle: pFRS

version thot o firsi-time odopter con opply

PFRS 2 Shore-bosed Poyment

Amendmenls to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions ond
Concellotions

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cosh-setfled Shore-
bosed Poyment Tronsoctions

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 20i0 - 2012 Cycle:
Meoning of 'vesting condition'

PFRS 3
(Revised)

Business Combinotions

Annuol lmprovements io PFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle:
Clossificotion ond meosurement of contingent
considerotion

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 20,lI - 20'l3 Cycle: Scope
exclusion for the formoiion of joinl orongements

PFRS 4 lnsuronce Controcts

Amendments io PAS 39 ond PFRS 4: Finonciol
Guorontee Controcts



PFRS 5 Non-cunent Assets Held for Sole ond Disconiinued
Operolions

Annuol lmprovements io PFRSs 2012 -2015 Cycle:
Chonges in method for disposol

PFRS 6 Explorotion for ond Evoluotion of Minerol Resources

PFRS 7 Finonciol lnstruments: Disclosures

Amendments to PFRS 7: Tronsiiion

Amendments to PAS 39 ond PFRS 7: Reclossificotion of
Finonciol Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 ond PFRS 7: Reclossificolion of
Finonciol Assets - Effective Dote ond Tronsition

Amendments to PFRS Z: lmproving Disclosures obout
Finonciol lnstruments

Amendments to PFRS Z: Disclosures - Tronsfers of
Finonciol Assets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting
Finonciol Assets ond Finonciol Liobilities

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mondotory Effeciive Dote of
PFRS 9 ond Tronsition Disclosures

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2012-2015 Cycle:
'Continuing involvement' for servicing controcts

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2012-2015 Cycle:
Offsetting disclosures in condensed interim finonciol
stotements

PFRS 8 Operoting Segments

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2010 -2012 Cycle:
Disclosures on the oggregotion of operoling segments'

PFRS 9 Finonciol lnstruments

Hedge Accounfing ond omendmenls fo PFRS 9, PFRS Z
ond PAS 39

PFRS 9
(2014)

Finonciol lnstruments

PFRS 1O Consolidoted Finonciol Stotements

Amendments io PFRS 10, PFRS I l, ond PFRS l2:
Consolidoted Finonciol Stotements, Joint
Arrongements ond Disclosure of lnterests in Other
Entities: Tronsition Guidonce

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12, ond PAS 27 (201l)
lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PFRS l0 ond PAS 28: Sole or
Contribution of Assets between on lnvestor ond its

Associote or .loint Venture

Amendmenis to PFRS 10, PFRS l2 ond PAS 28: lnvestmenl
Entities: Applying the Consolidotion Excepiion



PFRS II Joint Anongements

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS I l, ond PFRS l2:
Consolidoted Finonciol Stotements, Joint
Arrongements ond Disclosure of lnlerests in Other
Eniities: Tronsition Guidonce

Amendments io PFRS I l: Accounting for Acquisitions of
lnterests in Joint Operotions

PFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments 1o PFRS I0, PFRS I I, ond PFRS I2:
Consolidoted Finonciol Stolements, Joint
Arrongements ond Disclosure of lnlerests in Other
Entities: Tronsiiion Guidonce

Amendments 1o PFRS 10. PFRS i2, ond PAS27 (201I):
lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PFRS 
,I0, 

PFRS l2 ond PAS 28:
lnvestment Eniities: Appllng ihe Consolidoiion
Exception

PFRS I3 Fqir Volue Meosuremenl

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle:
Meosuremenl of short-term receivobles ond poyobles

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 201I - 20,l3 Cycle:
Scope of portfolio exception

PFRS 14 Regulotory Deferrol Accounts

Phillppine Accounling Siondords

PAS I
(Revised)

Preseniotion of Finonciol Stotements

Amendmenl to PAS I: Copitol Disclosures

Amendments to PAS 32 ond PAS I: Puttoble Finonciol
lnsiruments ond Obligotions Arising on Liquidotion

Amendments to PAS l: Presentotion of ltems of Other
Comprehensive lncome

Annuol lmprovements lo PFRSs 2009 - 2011 Cycle:
Presentotion of Finonciol Stotements - Comporotive
lnformotion beyond Minimum Requirements

Annuol lmprovements 1o PFRSs 200? -2011 Cycle:
Presentotion of the Opening Stotement of Finonciol
Position ond Reloted Notes

Amendments to PAS l: Disclosure lnitiotive

PAS 2 lnveniories

PAS 7 Stotement of Cosh Flows

PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Chonges in Accounting Estimotes
ond Enors

PAS IO Events ofler the Reporting Period

PAS II Construction Controcts

PAS I2 lncome Toxes

Amendment to PAS I2 - Deferred Tox Recovery of
Underlying Assets



PAS 16 Property, Plont ond Equipmeni

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2009 - 201I Cycle:
Property. Plont ond Equipment - Clossiflcotion of
Servicing Equipment

Amendments to PAS l6 ond PAS 38: Cloriflcolion of
Acceptoble Methods of Depreciotion ond Amorilzotion

Amendments to PAS I6 ond PAS 4l: Agriculture: Beorer
Plonls

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle:
Restotemenl of occumuloted depreciotion
(omortizoiion) on revoluotion (Amendments to PAS l6
ond PAS 38)

PAS I7 Leoses

PAS 18 Revenue

PAS I9
(Amended)

Employee Benefits

Amendments to PAS I9: Defined Benefit Plons:
Employee Contributions

Annuol lmprovemenis to PFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle:
Discount rote in o regionol morket shoring the some
currency - e.g. the Eurozone

PAS 20 Accounting for Government Gronts ond Disclosure of
Government Assistonce

PAS 2'I The Effects of Chonges in Foreign Exchonge Rotes

Amendment: Net lnvestment in o Foreign Operotion

PAS 23
(Revised)

Borowing Costs

PAS 24
(Revised)

Reloted Porty Disclosures

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 201'0 - 2012 Cycle:
Definition of 'reloted porty'

PAS 26 Accounting ond Reporling by Retirement Benefit Plons

PAS27
(Amendedl

Seporote Finonciol Stotements

Amendmenis io PFRS I 0, PFRS I 2, ond P AS 27 (2011)
lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PAS 27: Equifi Method in Seporote
Finonciol Stotements

PAS 28
(Amended)

lnvestmenis in Associoles ond Joint Veniures

Amendments to PFRS l0 ond PAS 28: Sole or
Contribution of Assets between on lnvestor ond its
Associote or Joini Venture

Amendments to PFRS 
,l0, 

PFRS l2 ond PAS 28:
lnvestment Entities: Applying the Consolidotion
Exception

PAS 29 Finonciol Reporting in Hyperinflotionory Economies



PAS 32 Finonciol Instruments: Disclosure ond Presentotion

Amendments to PAS 32 ond PAS l: Puttqble Finonciol
lnstruments ond Obligotions Arising on Liquidolion

Amendment to PAS 32: Clossiflcotion of Rights lssues

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Finonciol Asseis ond
Finonciol Liobilities

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 2009 -2011 Cycle:
Finonciol lnstruments Presentotion - lncome Tox
Consequences of Distributions

PAS 33 Eornings per Shore

PAS 34 lnterim Finonciol Reporting

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 200? -2011 Cycle:
lnlerim Finonciol Reporting - Segmenl Assets ond
Liobilities

Annuol lmprovemenis to PFRSs 2012-2015 Cycle:
Disclosure of informotion "elsewhere in the interim
finonciol report'

PAS 36 lmpoirment of Assets

Amendments io PAS 36: Recoveroble Amount
Disclosures for Non-Finonciol Assets

PAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liobilities ond Contingent Assets

PAS 38 lniongible Assets

PAS 3? Finonciol lnstruments: Recognition ond Meosurement

Amendments to PAS 39: Tronsition ond lnitiol
Recognition of Finonciol Assets ond Finonciol Liobilities

Amendments to PAS 39: Cosh Flow Hedge Accounting.
of Forecosi lnirogroup Tronsoctions

Amendments io PAS 39: The Foir Volue Option

Amendments to PAS 39 ond PFRS 4: Finonciol
Guorontee Controcts

Amendments to PAS 39 ond PFRS Z: Reclossificotion of
Finonciol Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 ond PFRS 7: Reclossificotion of
Finonciol Assets - Effective Dote ond Tronsition

Amendmenis to Philippine lnterpretotion IFRIC-9 ond
PAS 39: Embedded Derivoiives

Amendment to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged ltems

Amendment to PAS 39: Novotion of Derivotives ond
Continuotion of Hedge Accounting

PAS 40 Investmeni Property

Annuol lmprovements to PFRSs 201I - 20.I3 Cycle: lnter-
relotionship of PFRS 3 ond PAS 40

PAS 4I Agriculture

Amendments to PAS l6 ond PAS 4l: Agriculture: Beorer
Plonts



Philippine I nlerprelolions

lFRtc'l Chonges in Existing Decommissioning, Restorotion ond
Similor Liobilities

lFRlc 2 Members'Shore in Co-operotive Entities ond Similor
lnstruments

IFRIC 4 Determining Whether on Anangemenl Conforns o Leose

lFRtc 5 Righls to lnteresis orising from Decommissioning,
Restorotion ond Environmentol Rehobilitotion Funds

lFRtc 6 trbbilifies onsrng from Porticipoting in o Specific
Moket -Waste Electricol ond Electronic Equipment

lFRtc 7 Applying fhe Resfolement Approoch under PAS 29
Frnonciol Reportrng in Hyperinflotionory Economies

lFRtc I Reossessmenl of Embedded Derivotives

Amendments to Philippine lnterpretotion IFRIC-9 ond
PAS 39: Embedded Derivotives

trRtc r0 lnterim Financiol Reporting ond lm poirment

rFRtc l2 Service Concession Arrongements

tFRtc l3 Customer Loyolty Progrommes

lFRlc l4 PAS l9 - The Limit on o Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements ond iheir lnteroction

Amendments to Philippine lnterpretotions IFRIC- I4,
Prepoyments of o Minimum Funding Requirement

IFRIC I6 Hedges of o Net lnvestment in o Foreign Operotion

tFRlc 17 Distributions of Non-cosh Assets io Owners

trilc 18 Tronsfers of Assets from Customers

lFRtc l9 Extinguishing Finonciol Liobilities with Equity lnstruments

tFRtc 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phose of o Surfoce
Mine

IFRIC 2I Levies

src-7 lntroduction of ihe Euro

src-I0 Government Assistonce - No Specific Relotion to
Operoting Activities

stc-15 Operoting Leoses - lncentives

stc-25 lncome Toxes - Chonges in the Tox Stotus of on Entity or
its Shoreholders

stc-27 Evoluoiing the Substonce of Tronsoctions lnvolving the
Legol Form of o Leose

slc-29 Service Concession Arrongements: Disclosures.

stc:3.1" Revenue - Borter Tronsoctions lnvolving Advertising
Services

slc-32 lntongible Assets - Web Site Costs



Philippine lnterprelotions Committee Questions o nd Answers

PIC Q&A
2006-01

PAS 18, Appendix. porogroph g - Revenue recognition
for soles of property units under pre-completion
controcts

PIC Q&A
2006-02

PAS 27,10(d) - Clorificolion of criterio for exemption
from presenting consolidoted fi nonciol stotements

PIC Q&A
2007-o1-
Revised

PAS I .l 03(o) - Bqsis of preporotion of finonciol
stqtements if on entity hos not opplied PFRSs in full

PIC Q&A
2007-02

PAS20.24.37 ond PAS 39.43- Accounting for
government loons Wth low inierest rotes [see PIC Q&A
No. 2008-021

PIC Q&A
2007-03

PAS 40.27 - Voluotion of bonk reol ond olher properiies
ocquired (ROPA)

PIC Q&A
20a7-o4

PAS I0l.7 - Applicotion of criterio for o quolifying NPAE

PIC Q&A
2008.0I -
Revlsed

PAS 'l9.78 - Roie used in discounting post-employmenl
benefit obligotions

PIC Q&A
2008-02

PAS 20.43 - Accounting for government loons wiih low
inierest roies under the omendments to PAS 20

PIC Q&A
2009.0I

Fromework.23 ond PAS I.23 - Finonciol stotements
prepored on o bosis oiher thon going concern

PlC Q&A
2009-02

PAS 39.AGZI-22 - Rote used in determining the foir
volue of government securities in the Philippines

PIC Q&A
2010-0r

PAS 39.AGZI-72 - Rote used in determining the foir
volue of government securities in the Philippines

PIC Q&A
2010-02

PAS I R.l 6 - Bosis of preporotion of finonciol stotements

PIC Q&A
2010-03

PAS I Presentoiion of Finonciol Stotements -
Current/non-current clqssificotion of o colloble ierm
loon

PIC Q&A
20r r -0I

PAS l.l0(f) - Requirements for o Third Stotement of
Finonciol Position

PIC Q&A
2011-02

PFRS 3.2 - Common Control Business Combinoiions

PIC Q&A
20r r -03

Accounting for lnter-compony Loons

PlC Q&A
20I1.04

PAS 32.37-38 - Costs of Public Offering of Shores

PIC Q&A
20I t -05

PFRS l.Dl -D8 - Foir Volue or Revoluotion os Deemed
Cost

Ptq.a&A
20] r -06

PFRS 3. Business Combinotions (2008). ond PAS 40.
Invesiment Property - Acquisilion of lnvestment
properties - osset ocquisition or business combinotion?

PIC Q&A
2012-O1

PFRS 3.2 - Applicotion of the Pooling of lnteresls
Method for Business Combinoiions of Entities Under
Common Control in Consolidoted Finonciol Stotemenfs
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PIC Q&A
2012-02

Cost of o New Building Constructed on the Site of o
Previous Building

Applicobility of SMEIG Finol Q&As on ihe Applicotion of
IFRS for SMEs to Philippine SMEs

Conforming Chonges to PIC Q&As - Cycle 2013

PAS l9 - Accounting for Employee Benefits under o
Defined Coniribution Plon subject to Requirements of
Republic Act (RA) 7641,The Philippine Retirement Low


